**RECEIVED**

**Apr 29 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Judge

App. Case No. 2025-001812

SP of Augusta, LLC, .....Respondent,

v.

Marilyn Kille, .....Appellant,

AND

Marilyn Kille, .....Appellant,

v.

Bradley Plumbing and Heating, Inc., Duraclean Systems Incorporated or North  
Augusta and John Does 1 Through 10, .....Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Andrew S. Radeker  
S.C. Bar No. 73743  
Radeker Law, P.A.  
6511 Dare Circle  
Columbia, South Carolina 29206  
(803) 500-0891  
drew@radekerlaw.com  
Attorney for Appellant

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

- I. **Did the circuit court err reversibly by issuing an order granting the Respondents' motion to dismiss without holding a hearing on the motion, requiring the order to be reversed or vacated?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by Marilyn Kille of an order that granted the Respondents' joint motion to dismiss her answer, counterclaims, and third-party complaint. (R. pp. 1-5.) No hearing was ever held on the motion. (R. pp. 1-5, 264-70.) The basis the circuit court gave for the dismissal was Kille's failure to prosecute her case. (R. pp. 1-5.) There were no instances of the case having been called for trial at which Kille was not present or was present but unready to proceed. (R. pp. 1-5, 264-69.) There were no instances in which Kille had failed to attend trial roster meetings at which the case was subject to being called for trial. (R. pp. 1-5, 264-69.)

The case began on June 8, 2022, in magistrate's court, when Respondent SP of Augusta, LLC filed suit against Kille, alleging it had not been fully paid for mold remediation services it had provided to her. (R. pp. 39-49.) Kille answered, counterclaimed, and asserted third-party claims against Respondent Bradley Plumbing and Heating, Inc. and Respondent Duraclean Systems Incorporated of North Augusta. (R. pp. 50-70.) Kille's pleading alleged Respondent Bradley Plumbing's employees negligently broke the main water line serving Kille's home while there to repair her sink, which caused her house to flood, damaging the building and much of the items inside it. (R. pp. 58-59, 62-68.) It alleged that Respondents Duraclean and SP of Augusta were hired to and undertook to make Kille's home safe from mold caused by the flooding but negligently failed to do so, alleged that they negligently assured Kille the house was safe for her to occupy, and alleged that Respondent SP of Augusta undertook to clean Kille's personal property but returned it without having done so. (R. pp. 59-68.) Kille alleged that, because of the continued worsening mold conditions in her home, she was forced to move out of it into a motor home. (R. p. 60.) Kille alleged that, as a result

of the mold exposure caused by the Respondents' negligence, she sustained personal injuries in addition to the damage to her real and personal property. (R. p. 62.)

At the same time she filed her pleading, Kille moved for the transfer of the case to the circuit court, with her motion supported by her affidavit setting out essentially same facts as her pleading and stating that her damages exceed \$7,500 in amount. (R. pp. 106-07, 162-65.) Since Kille's counterclaim alleged damages in excess of the magistrate's court's \$7,500 jurisdictional limit, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 22-3-10 & -30, the magistrate's court transferred the action to the circuit court, in accordance with Rule 9(b), SCRMC. (R. pp. 106-07, 166.) Following the transfer, the Respondents pled responsively to Kille's answer, counterclaims, and third-party complaint. (R. pp. 71-105.)

In the circuit court, a consent scheduling order (marked "proposed consent scheduling order" but electronically signed by the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope) was filed on February 28, 2023. (R. pp. 6-8.) The very same document, with no changes, was signed and filed by Judge Pope again on March 2, 2023. (R. pp. 9-11.) That order provided for mediation to be held before December 4, 2023, and that the case was not to appear on a jury trial roster before January 29, 2024. (R. pp. 6-11.) On August 16, 2023, Judge Pope entered an amended consent scheduling order that moved the mediation deadline to February 1, 2024, and directed that the case would not appear on a trial roster before April 15, 2024. (R. pp. 12-14.) On August 24, 2023, the parties made a joint motion for the entry of a consent confidentiality order, and that order was filed the same day. (R. pp. 15-29, 108-09.)

On April 12, 2024, the court entered a second amended consent scheduling order, this one providing for the completion of mediation on or before November 16, 2024, and that the case would not appear on a trial roster before March 16, 2025. (R. pp. 30-32.)

Seventeen days later, Kille’s counsel filed what was styled as a “Consent Motion to Allow Counsel for Defendant and Third-Part [sic] Plaintiff Kille to Withdraw” as Kille’s attorney in this case. (R. pp. 110-12.) The motion stated that Respondents’ attorneys consented to the withdrawal and bore their e-signatures. (R. pp. 110-12.) The motion did not address whether Kille consented to the withdrawal and did not bear her signature. (R. pp. 110-12.) The day after the motion was filed, without a hearing being held, Judge Pope signed and filed what was styled as a “consent order” granting the motion to withdraw. (R. pp. 33-35.) Though Kille’s pleading on file had noted that she had moved out of her house due to the condition of it, both her attorney’s motion and the “consent order” allowing his withdrawal stated that Kille’s mailing address for sending notices was the house she no longer lived in. (R. pp. 34, 60, 111.)

On June 5, 2024, Kille, now *pro se*, wrote to the clerk of court asking that the court “consider that I am extremely ill, 77 yo [sic: years old], and without a lawyer as this matter proceeds.” (R. p. 196.) The letter was critical of her former counsel. (R. p. 196.) Kille stated in the letter that, after the entry of the order for his withdrawal, her lawyer secured the Respondents’ consent to the case being stricken from the active docket under Rule 40(j), SCRCF, and mentioned that one of Respondents’ counsel acknowledged the same in an email but then followed it with an email stating that Respondent SP of Augusta’s counsel did not consent to a Rule 40(j) order. (R. p. 196.) She described the reversal of what she had believed was all counsel’s position on striking the case under Rule 40(j) as “[a] huge problem for me.” (R. p. 196.) Kille outlined her difficulty in finding replacement counsel. (R. p. 196.) She also noted that “[a]t present I am being treated by multiple critical care experts . . . at George Washington University School of Medicine” in Washington, D.C. (R. p. 196.) Kille ended

her letter by telling the court that, “[n]eedless to say, I’m frightened; remain homeless since 11/01/2021; and would welcome any recommendations that may lead me to qualified legal help.” (R. p. 196.)

Kille again wrote the clerk of court on August 22, 2024. (R. p. 199.) She advised in that letter that she had communicated with 104 different attorneys or firms since her former counsel withdrew and had sought assistance, to no avail, from the director of the South Carolina Bar Association. (R. p. 199.) Ending the brief letter, she noted that her “health continues to fail, the direct consequence of harm caused by the defendants. I’m exhausted, bedridden, and can do no more but chose to alert the Court as to why.” (R. p. 199.)

In October of 2024, a scheduling assistant for a proposed mediator sent two emails to Kille about scheduling mediation, asking for Kille’s availability. (R. pp. 118-19.) Kille responded, stating “I have no intention of disregarding such or to prolong related legal matters” but also noting that “I have been and remain extremely ill” and “it’s impossible for me to reliably commit to anything in the future other than to my ongoing medical care.” (R. p. 118.)

No motions were filed concerning the unsuccessful attempt at mediation scheduling or about anything else. (R. pp. 264-69.) Instead, the next thing that the court’s file reflects happened is that, per the second amended consent scheduling order into which Kille’s counsel entered just before his withdrawal, the case was placed on the jury trial roster for the week of April 14, 2025. (R. pp. 231, 264-69.) On March 14, 2025, one of Respondent SP of Augusta’s attorneys began an email chain, including Kille, with a deputy clerk of court, noting that that “[w]e have requested a status conference from the clerk’s office and the administrative judge to set mediation and enter into a new scheduling order that would reflect this delay in the case [concerning mediation scheduling] but that status conference has yet to be scheduled.” (R. p.

231.) He asked that the case be removed from the trial docket until a status conference was held and mediation occurred. (R. p. 231.) The deputy clerk replied, copying Kille, and advised Kille and Respondents' counsel that "Judge Clyburn Pope will hold a status conference in this case on April 14<sup>th</sup>. I will make a note on the docket that this case shall remain on the roster for status conference purposes only and will not be called for trial during that week." (R. p. 230.)

Kille, copying all counsel, the deputy clerk, and Judge Pope's law clerk, sent an email in response on March 25, 2025, in which she advised the court of the following:

I wish to notify the Court that (a) I remain without legal representation, though not for want of trying; (b) and *have been near death multiple times and am facing death at this time . . .*

. . .

[That an attorney she had engaged to represent her in this case] failed to acknowledge – after three months – our contractual agreement regarding such.

. . .

. . . per the CDC, I am presently at the 85% Mortality Level.

IN SUMMARY, I cannot physically appear on 14 April 2025 and I remain at a loss to know how to protect my interests. Otherwise, I continue to seek legal representation . . .

Herewith I beseech the Court to postpone the 14 April 2025 status hearing. In turn, I remain committed to securing substitute counsel as soon as possible and to notifying the Court and all parties as soon thereafter as is reasonable.

(R. pp. 226-27) (emphasis in original).

The record does not reflect that any action was taken on Kille's request that the status conference be continued. (R. pp. 264-69.) On April 14, 2025, Kille did not appear at the status conference, but Respondents' counsel did. (R. pp. 134-39.) Respondent Bradley Plumbing's counsel told the court that Kille had "told us that she's not able to participate . . . [s]o we're

just looking for some structure . . . we're looking for some structure on our side.” (R. p. 136 ln. 21-22, 24-25, p. 137 ln. 1-2.) He told the court “[w]e’re ready to file a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute[,]” but again said that “we just want to have some structure so we’re not penalized down the road by her asking for more time or asking for a lawyer when she’s had plenty for both.” (R. p. 137 ln. 7-8, 9-12.) Respondent SP of Augusta’s counsel said “[w]e would ask the Court to strike her answer and enter judgment in favor of Serv Pro on the original matter. If not, Judge, we’d be happy to file a motion if the Court would prefer that, but that’s our stance at this time.” (R. p. 137 ln. 16-20.) Respondent Duraclean’s attorney told Judge Pope that, “[a]s far as the disposition is concerned, I do think it’s a case for summary judgment. . . . Really, the case just needs to be dismissed, whether today on a motion to strike or later on a motion for summary judgment or failure to prosecute.” (R. p. 137 ln. 25, p. 138 ln. 1, 4-6.)

Judge Pope responded as follows:

THE COURT: All right. This is what I would like to do. I do want to entertain a brief motion to dismiss. That can be filed and that way it will allow her to -- is it Kille?

MR. DAVIES: I believe it's Kille.

THE COURT: That will give Ms. Kille the opportunity to respond to that. But what I would like to do is have that motion within the next ten days.

MR. DAVIES: We can do that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: The Court will entertain that and will allow her an opportunity to respond to that. Then I will take a judgment based on the motions -- well, I'm going to bring y'all back for a hearing.

MR. DAVIES: Your Honor, would the Court allow us to, also, serve summary motions at the same time so we can have the evidentiary part of that hearing in relevance to the motion to dismiss?

THE COURT: I will.

(R. p. 138 ln. 12-25, p. 139 ln. 1-4.)

The court did not bring anyone back for a hearing. Rather, ten days after the status conference, Respondents filed a “Joint Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution or, in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment.” (R. pp. 113-19.) Respondent SP of Augusta made attempts to use regular and certified mail to send a copy of the motion to Kille, but those attempts failed. (R. pp. 169-92.) All attempts at mail service were to the house Kille had advised the court and all parties she was not occupying due to its condition and another address on the same road. (R. pp. 60, 169-92, 196.) The record does not indicate why attempts at mailing to the other address on the same road were undertaken. (R. pp. 169-92.) These documents were returned to their sender by the postal service. (R. pp. 169-92.) On July 2, 2025, Respondent SP of Augusta filed a document labeled “affidavit of service” that stated that the attempts at service had not been successful and noted that a copy of the motion was emailed that day to Kille. (R. pp. 183-93.)

Nothing in the motion filed by Respondents or otherwise filed with the court indicates that Kille was ever advised that the court intended to rule on the motion without holding a hearing. (R. pp. 113-19, 264-69.)

Now that Kille had received the Respondents’ motion, she wrote to the court on July 15, 2025, in response, again stating she had diligently pursued obtaining counsel, without success, and advising, among other things, that “(a) I have been homeless since November 2021; (b) experts representing State and Federal government, universities and private contractors have concluded that (i) my home ‘*cannot be reliably remediated*’ and ‘*should be razed*[.]’” (R. p. 236). Kille ended her letter by stating that to dismiss her case “would be an

egregious miscarriage of justice” and that “I remain committed to continuing to pursue legal representation and shall apprise the Court routinely of my related efforts.” (R. p. 237.)

On July 17, 2025, Respondents filed a joint reply memorandum, stating that, as a *pro se* litigant, Kille is held to the same standard as an attorney. (R. pp. 233-35.)

The next day, July 18, 2025, without a hearing on the Respondents’ motion having been held and without the court having ruled that it would consider the motion without a hearing, Judge Pope filed the order that is now on appeal, in which she granted Respondents’ motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute and struck Kille’s pleading altogether, including her answer to Respondent SP of Augusta’s complaint. (R. pp. 1-5.) The heart of Judge Pope’s order reads as follows:

Kille has proceeded *pro se* since April 30, 2024. Kille has repeatedly represented to the Court and to Parties that she cannot find representation but that she cannot participate in or schedule the events needed to prosecute this matter. Kille refused to participate in scheduling mediation. Kille refused to attend the status conference scheduled on April 14, 2025 and ignored the notice she received of the status conference. Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that Kille has failed to carry her burden in prosecuting her claims. The Court finds that, by refusing to mediate or appear in front of this Court, Kille’s conduct constitutes unreasonable neglect and pursuant to Rule 41(b), S.C.R.C.P., requires dismissal of all claims asserted by Kille. The Court further finds that Kille has had multiple opportunities to proceed with this case since it was originally filed in June 2022 but her refusal to do so has prolonged unnecessarily the time, effort, and costs of the defending parties, showing an indifference to the rights of the defending parties. Accordingly, the Court finds that Kille has failed to prosecute her Counterclaim and Third-Party Complaint.

(R. pp. 3-4.)

On July 29, 2025, Kille was provided with a copy of the order by email. (R. pp. 194-95.)

On August 11, 2025, Respondent SP of Augusta filed a motion for judgment on its complaint, including for attorneys' fees. (R. pp. 120-32.)

On August 18, 2025, Kille served Respondent's counsel with notice of her appeal of the order. (R. pp. 247-49.)

The motion for judgment on the complaint and for attorneys' fees was calendared for hearing on September 15, 2025. (R. pp. 264-69.) That hearing was the first one set or held since the Respondents' joint motion to dismiss was filed. (R. pp. 264-69.) Not realizing that the hearing was to be conducted via WebEx, Kille came to the courthouse for the hearing, transported by someone giving her wheelchair assistance. (R. pp. 141-61.) The Honorable Walter J. McLeod, IV, conducted the hearing with Respondent SP of Augusta's counsel participating by WebEx and Kille present in the courtroom. (R. pp. 141-61.) Judge McLeod observed that, during the hearing, Kille was breathing heavily and appeared to be experiencing "some sort of medical issue[.]" (R. p. 143 ln. 19-25.) Kille noted the pendency of the appeal and that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction of the matter. (R. p. 147 ln. 25, p. 148 ln. 1-2.) As the hearing was ending, Kille advised the court that she needed immediate medical attention, a sheriff's deputy called an ambulance, and Kille left in one. (R. p. 159 ln. 9-25, p. 160 ln. 1.) Judge McLeod issued an order ruling that it is inappropriate to hear Respondent SP of Augusta's motion while this appeal is pending. (R. pp. 36-38.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"When reviewing a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute pursuant to Rule 41(b), SCRCF, an appellate court may reverse the trial court's decision upon an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions." In re: Care and Treatment

of Miller, 393 S.C. 248, 256, 713 S.E.2d 253, 257 (2011). Our Supreme Court has observed that “no court is entitled to the deference associated with the discretion standard of review until that court has earned deference by fulfilling the responsibility of exercising its discretion according to law.” Morris v. BB&T Corp., 438 S.C. 582, 885 S.E.2d 394 (2023). “The American tradition of rule of law has recognized from its earliest days that a motion to a court’s discretion is a motion, not to its inclination, but to its judgment; and its judgment is to be guided by sound legal principles.” Jordan v. Hartford Fin. Grp., Inc., 435 S.C. 501, 505, 868 S.E.2d 400, 402 (Ct. App. 2021).

Whether an order is void is a question of law. See Chew v. Newsom Chevrolet Inc., 315 S.C. 102, 103, 431 S.E.2d 631 (Ct. App. 1993) (“question of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law for the court”). An appellate court reviews all questions of law *de novo*. Transportation Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2010); Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 15, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772-73 (2010).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The circuit court’s handling of the motion to dismiss violated Kille’s right to due process of law, and the order those proceedings produced is void.**

Judgments rendered without due process are void. Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney, 349 S.C. 179, 183, 561 S.E.2d 659 (Ct. App. 2002). “Generally, a person against whom a judgment or order is taken without notice may rightly ignore it and may assume that no court will enforce it against his person or property.” Id.

“[D]ue process of law requires that a person shall have a reasonable opportunity to be heard before a legally appointed and qualified tribunal before any binding decree, order, or judgment can be made affecting his rights to life, liberty, or property.” LaSalle Bank Nat’l.

Ass'n. v. Davidson, 386 S.C. 276, 279, 688 S.E.2d 121, 122-23 (2009) (quoting State v. Brown, 178 S.C. 294, 300, 182 S.E. 838, 841 (1935)).

Due process considerations apply in contested cases or hearings which affect an individual's property or liberty interests as contemplated by the federal and state constitutions. See U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. The procedural component of the state and federal due process clauses requires the individual whose property or liberty interests are affected to have received adequate notice of the proceeding, the opportunity to be heard in person, the opportunity to introduce evidence, the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, and the right to meaningful judicial review.

Dangerfield v. State, 376 S.C. 176, 179, 656 S.E.2d 352, 353-54 (2008).

The Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States provides that no person shall be deprived of his liberty or property without due process of law, and a like provision is contained in the Constitution of South Carolina. This provision as to due process has been uniformly construed by the courts to require that, before any action can be taken by any court injuriously affecting the property rights of a person, such person must, in advance of the adjudication, have due notice of such proposed action and a reasonable opportunity to appear and defend against it, if he be so inclined.

...

That to condemn without a hearing is repugnant to the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment needs nothing but statement. Every man is entitled to his day in court before his rights can be finally disposed of, and he cannot be divested of this right by any act of the Legislature. Due process of law requires an orderly proceeding adapted to the nature of the case, in which proceeding the citizen has a right and an opportunity to be heard, and to defend, protect, and enforce his rights, by establishing any fact which, under the law, would be a protection to him or to his property. The object of notice, which is an essential element of due process, is to afford an opportunity to appear and be heard, and if a hearing is denied the notice is ineffectual for any purpose.

...

The opportunity to be heard is an essential requisite of due process of law in judicial proceedings[.]

...

A hearing or an opportunity to be heard, prior to judgment, is absolutely essential. One of the essential elements of due process of law is the opportunity to be heard.

Koester v. Citizens Pub. Co., 154 S.C. 154, 151 S.E. 452 (1930) (internal quotation marks omitted).

“The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.” S.C. Dept. of Soc. Servs. v. Meek, 352 S.C. 523, 533, 575 S.E.2d 846, 851 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Beeks, 325 S.C. 243, 246, 481 S.E.2d 703, 705 (1997)).

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