RECEIVED

Apr 02 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001812

SP of Augusta, LLC,Respondent,

v.

Marilyn Kille,Appellant,

AND

Marilyn Kille,Appellant,

v.

Bradley Plumbing and Heating, Inc., Duraclean Systems
Incorporated of North Augusta and John Does 1 through 10,Respondents.

JOINT FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

McANGUS, GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Jeffrey Kuykendal
Post Office Box 30307
6302 Fairview Road, Suite 700
Charlotte, North Carolina 28226
(704) 643-6303
jeffrey.kuykendal@mgclaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Marilyn Kille (“Appellant”), appeals from the trial court’s decision to dismiss her case due to her failure to prosecute her case. Appellant does not argue the trial court’s decision was improper, let alone, an abuse of discretion. Rather, despite having, and availing herself of, an opportunity to oppose Respondents’ motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute, her sole argument on appeal is that her due process rights were violated because the trial court did not hold a hearing on Respondents’ motion to dismiss. However, a hearing is not required to dismiss a case for a party’s failure to prosecute its claims and Appellant cites no case that has held otherwise.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 8, 2022, Respondent, SP of Augusta, LLC (“SP of Augusta”), filed a lawsuit against Appellant arising from allegations that she had failed to fully pay for mold remediation services. (R. pp. 39-49).

On July 11, 2022, in response, Appellant asserted counterclaims against SP of Augusta and third-party claims against Respondent, Bradley Plumbing and Heating, Inc. (“Bradley Plumbing”), and Respondent, Duraclean Systems Incorporated of North Augusta (“Duraclean”) (SP of Augusta, Bradley Plumbing and Duraclean are collectively referred to as “Respondents”). (R. pp. 50-70). Appellant asserted claims for negligence and breach of warranty against Respondents and breach of contract against SP of Augusta. (R. pp. 50-70 at ¶¶ 79-89 & 96-104).

As to Bradley Plumbing, Appellant alleged its employee negligently broke the main water line serving Appellant’s home during a repair. (R. pp. 50-70 at ¶¶ 50-53). As to Duraclean, Appellant alleged that Duraclean was negligent, *inter alia*, in failing to clean and remediate Appellant’s home and personal property and that Duraclean breached implied

warranties it owed Appellant. (R. pp. 50-70 at ¶¶ 86-87 & 99). As to SP of Augusta, Appellant alleged that it was negligent in failing to clean and remediate Appellant's home and personal property and breached implied warranties it owed to Appellant and the contract it had with Appellant. (R. pp. 50-70 at ¶¶ 86-87, 99, & 102-104).

Appellant successfully transferred the case from the magistrate's court to the circuit court due to her damage allegations. (R. pp. 106-107 & 166).

On August 29, 2022, SP of Augusta answered Appellant's counterclaims and denied Appellant's allegations of negligence, breach of warranty, and breach of contract. (R. pp. 71-84). On October 12, 2022, Duraclean denied any negligence or breach of warranty and asserted it had only limited involvement with the home consisting of retrieving, cleaning and returning a select number of rugs located at the residents. (R. pp. 85-94 at ¶¶ 12 & 14). On October 20, 2022, Bradley Plumbing answered Appellant's third-party complaint and denied Appellant's allegations of negligence and breach of warranty. (R. pp. 95-105).

On February 24, 2023, the circuit court issued a notice of ADR, which required the parties to conduct a mediation on or before May 9, 2023. (R. pp. 167-168). The notice warned sanctions may be issued for failure to file a proof of ADR if the deadline was not met. (R. pp. 167-168).

On February 28, 2023 and March 2, 2023, the Court entered a consent scheduling order providing for mediation to be held before December 4, 2023 and trial to occur not before January 29, 2024. (R. pp. 6-11).

On August 16, 2023, the court entered an amended scheduling order providing for mediation to be held before February 1, 2024 and trial to occur not before April 15, 2024. (R. pp. 12-14).

On April 12, 2024, the court entered a second amended scheduling order providing for mediation to be held before November 16, 2024 and trial to occur not before March 16, 2025. (R. pp. 30-32).

On April 29, 2024, Appellant's counsel filed a motion to withdraw as counsel. (R. pp. 110-112). On April 30, 2024, the Court granted the motion to withdraw. (R. pp. 33-35). The order included a 30-day stay of the case. (R. pp. 33-35).

On October 11, 2024, an email was sent to all parties seeking to schedule the mediation. (R. pp. 200-202). Having received no response from Appellant, a follow up email was sent to Appellant on October 29, 2024. (R. pp. 200-202). Appellant responded that "it's impossible for me to reliably commit to anything in the future other than my ongoing medical care." (R. pp. 200-202).

On December 4, 2024, counsel for SP of Augusta sent an email to the Court requesting the case be placed on the Court's next status conference hearing date as the parties had been unable to schedule a mediation. (R. pp. 203-204).

On January 15, 2025, the Court emailed counsel and Appellant acknowledging the request for a status conference and requesting clarification as to its purpose. (R. p. 205). On January 17, 2025, Bradley Plumbing responded that the status conference was necessary to schedule a mediation as Appellant had refused to schedule one. (R. pp. 206-207). On February 5, 2025, the Court emailed Appellant and all counsel and indicated to all the need for counsel to confer with Appellant as to whether she had retained new counsel and to schedule the mediation. (R. pp. 208-211). Counsel for Bradley Plumbing communicated with Appellant who again refused to set a mediation date. (R. pp. 208-211). After Appellant indicated she had hired an attorney, the Court informed her that it had communicated with that attorney and the attorney

had confirmed to the Court that he would not be representing her. (R. pp. 212-217). In response, Appellant indicated she did not know what to do next and had tried and failed repeatedly to retain a substitute attorney. (R. pp. 218-219).

The Court placed the case on the jury trial roster for the week of April 14, 2025. In response, counsel for SP of Augusta reiterated to the Court Appellant's refusal to schedule mediation and reiterated the request for a status conference. (R. pp. 220-221). The Court responded that it would hold a status conference on April 14, 2025. (R. pp. 220-221).

Appellant responded on March 25, 2025 that she would be physically unable to appear at the April 14, 2025 status conference and requested that it be postponed to allow her additional time to find counsel. (R. pp. 222-225). Appellant's request for postponement was not granted.

The status conference proceeded on April 14, 2025. Appellant failed to appear. (R. pp. 133-140 at 3:6-3:16). Bradley Plumbing indicated to the Court the difficulty in trying to schedule a mediation and to get Appellant to prosecute her case, which had delayed the case for all parties. (R. pp. 133-140 at 4:18-5:5). Additionally, another counsel pointed out that Appellant had been unresponsive for over a year. (R. pp. 133-140 at 5:14-5:20). The Court informed the participants that she would entertain a motion to dismiss, which would give Appellant an opportunity to respond. (R. pp. 133-140 at 6:12-7:8).

On April 24, 2025, Respondents filed a joint motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution pursuant to Rule 41(b) and, in the alternative, a motion for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56. (R. pp. 113-119).

On July 16, 2025, Appellant provided a written submission in opposition to the joint motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution or, in the alternative, for summary judgment. (R. pp. 236-237). Appellant spent the majority of her response detailing her efforts to obtain legal

representation. (R. pp. 236-237). However, she failed to explain why she failed to schedule the required mediation and participate in the prosecution of her claims against Respondents. (R. pp. 236-237).

On July 17, 2025, Respondents submitted a joint memorandum in support of the motion to dismiss and in reply to Appellant's July 16, 2025 submission. (R. pp. 233-235). It was pointed out Appellant's submission failed to refute that she had refused to participate in mediation and prosecute her claims. (R. pp. 233-235).

On July 18, 2025, the Court entered an order granting the motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution. (R. pp. 1-5). The Court noted that Appellant had refused to participate in scheduling mediation and failed to attend the status conference (scheduled in lieu of trial). (R. pp. 1-5). Accordingly, the Court concluded that Appellant's reason for being without legal representation for over a year was not sufficient to shirk her responsibilities to prosecute her case. (R. pp. 1-5).

In the more than nine months from October 11, 2024, when Respondents' counsel sought to schedule mediation, through the order of dismissal, at no point did Appellant ever indicate a willingness to participate in a mediation or prosecute her case.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether an action should be dismissed for failure to prosecute is left to the discretion of the trial court judge, and his decision will not be disturbed, except upon a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” *McComas v. Ross*, 368 S.C. 59, 62, 626 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2006) (citation omitted). “On appeal, the burden of showing abuse of discretion is on the party challenging the trial court's ruling.” *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 44 S.E.2d

513, 514 (1994) *citing State ex. rel. McLeod v. Wilson*, 279 S.C. 562, 310 S.E.2d 818 (Ct. App. 1983).

ARGUMENT

Generally, a “plaintiff has the burden of prosecuting h[er] action, and the trial court may properly dismiss an action for plaintiff’s unreasonable neglect in proceeding with h[er] cause.” *Don Shevey & Spires, Inc. v. Am. Motors Realty Corp.*, 279 S.C. 58, 60, 301 S.E.2d 757, 758 (1983). The ability of a Court to dismiss an action for the failure to prosecute “is necessary if the courts are to control and efficiently manage an ever-expanding docket.” *Id.* “There is a limit beyond which the court should allow a litigant to consume the time of the court and to prolong unnecessarily time, effort, and costs to defending parties.” *Georganne Apparel, Inc. v. Todd*, 393 S.C. 87, 92, 399 S.E.2d 16, 19 (Ct. App. 1990).

Appellant makes only one argument in her appeal. Appellant contends her due process rights were violated. Importantly, Appellant does not argue that the trial court’s decision to dismiss Appellant’s case for her failure to prosecute was unjustified, let alone, an abuse of discretion. *Fields v. Melrose P’ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (“[a]n issue raised on appeal but not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”); *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (same); *Matthews v. City of Greenwood*, 305 S.C. 267, 407 S.E.2d 668 (Ct. App. 1991) (arguments not made in an appellant brief are deemed abandoned).

Appellant correctly notes that due process of law requires that Appellant have a reasonable opportunity to make her case before an order against her is entered. *See* Appellant Brief at pp 13-14. However, what Appellant fails to recognize is that the trial court did not

deprive her of due process rights by ruling on the briefs as opposed to holding a hearing on Respondents' motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute.

It must be noted from the outset that Appellant had, and availed herself of, an opportunity to be heard on Respondents' motion to dismiss. At the April 14, 2025 hearing the trial court required the Respondents to submit a motion to dismiss for the express purpose of allowing Appellant the opportunity to make her case why her claims should not be dismissed for her failure to prosecute them. Appellant filed an opposition to that motion, which the trial court considered before dismissing Appellant's claims. Put simply, Appellant was afforded her due process rights as the trial court did not dismiss her case until after it had heard from her.

What Appellant appears to be arguing is that the trial court was required to hold a hearing on Respondents' motion to dismiss before granting that motion to dismiss. However, no such requirement exists. Rule 41(b) SCRPC does not mention, let alone require, a hearing. By way of contrast, Rule 37(a)(4) SCRPC, for example, allows for sanctions if discovery must be compelled, "after opportunity for hearing." *See also U.S. Bank Trust, N.A. v. Hammond*, 2019 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 250 at * 3 (Ct. App. 2019) (unpublished) (as Rule 25 SCRPC does not require a hearing on the motion, there was no error in substituting the parties without a hearing); *Sheppard v. S.C. Dep't of Prob.*, 2006 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 285 at * 7 (Ct. App. 2006) (trial court is not required to hold a hearing before granting a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss).

Additionally, the Supreme Court "has held that trial judges possess the inherent power to dismiss actions *sua sponte* for a party's failure to prosecute the relevant claims." *Crestwood Golf Club v. Potter*, 328 S.C. 201, 211, 493 S.E.2d 826, 832 (1997) *citing Small v. Mungo*, 254 S.C. 438, 442, 175 S.E.2d 802, 803 (1970), 24 Am. Jr. 2d *Dismissal, Discontinuances, and Nonsuit* 48 (1983) and *Collins v. Sigmon*, 299 S.C. 464, 385 S.E.2d 835 (1989). The trial court's

ability to act *sua sponte* necessarily means that a hearing is not required to dismiss a case pursuant to Rule 41(b) SCRCF.

Appellant's reliance on Rule 6(d) SCRCF is misplaced. While it is true that under Rule 6(d) SCRCF, absent a different time fixed by the rules or order of the court, a hearing cannot be held less than 10 days after a notice of hearing is served and a written motion, other than those decided *ex parte*, cannot be decided less than 10 days after it is served, that does not mean a hearing is always required, just as it does not mean a written motion is always required. All it means is that if the trial court were to decide to have a hearing, all parties would be required to receive at least 10 days' notice. If Appellant's interpretation that Rule 6(d) SCRCF requires a hearing for every motion were accurate, not only would it run counter to cases cited above as well as others, it would also necessarily mean a "written motion" was required in every case. As noted above, the Supreme Court has held that a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute can be issued *sua sponte*.

Accordingly, Appellant's due process rights were honored in that she was given the opportunity, and availed herself of the opportunity, to argue why the motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute should not be granted. She lost. The absence of oral argument does not invalidate the decision of the trial court and, as Appellant makes no arguments that the decision was incorrect on the merits, let alone, an abuse of discretion, this Court must affirm the dismissal of Appellant's claims against Respondents.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should affirm the decisions of the trial court.

April 2, 2026